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By: Marc D. Powers, Mark A. Kornfeld, Brian W. Song, Teresa C. Chow, Jonathan 
Nowakowski, Gabriel E. Drucker, Christopher B. Gallagher and Joshua B. Rog 

Welcome to the 2012 Year-End Report from the BakerHostetler Securities Litigation and 
Regulatory Enforcement practice team.  Its purpose is to provide a periodic survey, apart 
from our team Executive Alerts, on matters we believe of interest to sophisticated General 
Counsel, Chief Compliance Officers and Compliance Departments, Legal Departments and 
members of the securities and commodities industries at financial institutions and public 
companies.  

We intend to issue this Securities Litigation and Enforcement Highlights Report at mid-year 
and shortly after year end.  We hope you find the information and commentary useful and 
welcome your comments and suggestions.  We encourage you to contact any of the 
practice team members listed at the end of the Report.   

I. Supreme Court Case Review (October 2012 Term) 

On November 5, 2012, the Supreme Court heard oral argument in Amgen Inc. v. 
Connecticut Retirement Plans and Trust Funds, a Rule 10b-5 class action on appeal from 
the Ninth Circuit, and Comcast Corporation v. Behrend, an antitrust class action on appeal 
from the Third Circuit.  Oral argument in Gabelli v. SEC, an enforcement action alleging civil 
fraud under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Investment Advisers Act”) on appeal from 
the Second Circuit on a statute of limitations issue, took place on January 8, 2013. 

The Supreme Court’s decisions in Amgen and Comcast could potentially impose stricter 
standards for class certification in Rule 10b-5 and antitrust class actions in federal court, 
and ultimately render certification an increasingly onerous barrier to the prosecution class 
actions generally.  The Supreme Court’s decision in Gabelli will likely determine whether the 
“discovery rule” applies to the statute of limitations for enforcement actions sounding in 
fraud, and significantly impact the timeliness within which the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and other government agencies have to enforce the anti-fraud statute.                         

Amgen, Inc.,  v. Connecticut Retirement Plans and Trust Funds (Argued: November 5, 
2012) 

In Amgen, Connecticut Retirement Plans and Trust Funds (“CRP”) sued Amgen, Inc. and 
several of its officers (collectively, “Amgen”) for allegedly failing to disclose safety 
information about two products, thereby inflating the price of Amgen’s stock when CRP 
purchased it.1  The district court granted class certification after determining that CRP had 

                                                 

1 Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans and Trust Funds, 660 F.3d 1170, 1172 – 1773 (9th Cir. 2011). 
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successfully invoked the “fraud on the market” doctrine by alleging that Amgen’s stock 
traded in an efficient market and that its alleged misstatements were public.  Proof of the 
materiality of Amgen’s alleged misstatements was not required at the class-certification 
stage, and the district court further declined to allow Amgen the opportunity to rebut CRP’s 
allegation of materiality.  The Ninth Circuit affirmed the district court’s ruling on appeal.2   

The questions presented to the Supreme Court were (1) whether, in a misrepresentation 
case under SEC Rule 10b-5, the district court must require proof of materiality before 
certifying a plaintiff class based on the fraud on the market theory; and (2) whether, in such 
a case, the district court must allow the defendant to present evidence rebutting the 
applicability of the fraud on the market theory.3  
 
First approved by the Supreme Court in Basic Inc. v. Levinson,4 the fraud on the market 
doctrine is a theory of indirect reliance that alleviates the often insurmountable burden for 
each class member in a Rule 10b-5 case to individually prove direct reliance on the alleged 
misrepresentation, in order to demonstrate the predominance of common issues required 
under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (“FRCP”) 23(b)(3) for class certification.  The fraud 
on the market doctrine is based on the principle that the market price of a security traded in 
an efficient market reflects all public information (including material misrepresentations), 
and the buyer is therefore presumed to have relied on the truthfulness of that information in 
purchasing the security.5   
 
In its brief on the merits, Amgen argued that because the fraud on the market doctrine rests 
on the premise that only material information affects the price of a security in an efficient 
market, immaterial information cannot serve as the basis for applying the doctrine and 
presuming reliance by all class action plaintiffs.  According to Amgen, the issue of 
materiality is properly determined at the class certification stage.6  CRP argued in its brief 
on the merits that once an efficient market and public statements have been established, 
class certification is warranted without proof of materiality because regardless of whether 
the statements are material or immaterial, all plaintiffs are similarly affected (i.e., a common 
issue exists and predominates).7         
 
During oral argument, the Supreme Court appeared divided on whether materiality is an 
issue for the class certification stage, or on summary judgment or at trial.  Justices Breyer, 
Ginsburg, Kagan, and Sotomayor appeared inclined to affirm the Ninth Circuit’s ruling and 
CRP’s arguments.  For example, as Justice Kagan stated, “…for materiality, the class wins 
or loses together.  If it’s material, it’s material as to everybody.  If it’s not material, it’s not 

                                                 

2 Id. at 1174.   
3 Questions Presented, Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans and Tr. Funds, No. 11-1085 (2012). 
http://www.supremecourt.gov/qp/11-01085qp.pdf.  
4 Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224 (1988).  
5 Amgen, 660 F.3d at 1174.   
6 See generally, Brief for Petitioners, Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans and Tr. Funds, No. 11-1085 (2012). 
7 See generally, Brief for Respondent, Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans and Tr. Funds, No. 11-1085 (2012). 
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material as to everybody.”8  Justice Breyer further observed that unlike market efficiency 
and publicity, which are only predicates for invoking the fraud on the market doctrine, 
materiality “is a common element of the [Rule 10b-5 violation] always; it is traditionally there; 
it will be litigated, so there is no special reason to or desirability in or need for litigating at 
the outset.”9 
 
On the other hand, Justice Scalia countered by insisting that “there is a reason for deciding 
it earlier, and the reason is the enormous pressure to settle once the class is certified.”10  
He also pointed out that “you don’t have to prove [materiality] to get the class certified.  You 
only have to prove it to get the class certified with the benefit of the fraud-on-the-market 
theory…Which is a shortcut to getting the class certified, right?...So this is just a condition to 
the shortcut.”11   
 
The Supreme Court’s decision in Amgen will likely clarify the standard for invoking the fraud 
on the market theory in seeking class certification in Rule 10b-5 securities cases.  This 
decision, together with the decision in Comcast (discussed immediately below), will likely 
shed much-needed light on the ongoing debate in the wake of the Court’s 2011 decision in 
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes (“Wal-Mart”)12 regarding to what extent the merits may be 
considered at the class certification stage.   
 
Comcast Corporation v. Behrend,  (Argued: November 5, 2012) 
 

In Comcast, cable television subscribers Behrend (“Behrend”) filed an antitrust class action 
against Comcast Corporation (“Comcast”), alleging that Comcast violated the Sherman 
Antitrust Act by contracting with competitors to swap cable systems it owned outside the 
Philadelphia designated marketing area (“DMA”) in exchange for competitors’ systems 
within it (a process called “clustering”), thereby monopolizing the cable market in this area.  
Through clustering, Comcast’s share of subscribers in the Philadelphia DMA increased from 
23.9% in 1998 to 77.7% in 2002, resulting in the deterrence of competition and elevation of 
Comcast subscriber’s prices to supra-competitive levels.13   

The District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania certified the class in May 2007, 
but on Comcast’s motion, reconsidered the certification in light of a new antitrust decision in 
In re Hydrogen Peroxide Antitrust Litigation.14  Following four days of evidentiary hearings in 
October 2009, which included consideration of 32 expert reports and live expert testimony, 

                                                 

8 Transcript of Oral Argument at 15:2 – 5, No. 11-1085, Amgen Inc. v. Conn. Ret. Plans and Tr. Funds, No. 11-1085 
(2012). 
9 Id. at 33:23 – 34:16. 
10 Id. at 35:2 – 6. 
11 Id. at 51:12 – 21. 
12 131 S. Ct. 2541 (2011). 
13 See generally, Brief for Respondents, 1 – 4, Comcast Corp. v. Behrend, No. 11-864 (2012). 
14 552 F3.d 305 (3d Cir. 2008).  Hydrogen Peroxide requires “a thorough examination of the factual and legal 
allegations” and “the resolution of all legal or factual disputes relevant to Rule 23 by a preponderance of the 
evidence.” Id. at 316. 
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the district court recertified the class in January 2010.  The district court accepted Behrend’s 
clustering theory of damages, and found that expert Dr. James McClave could satisfy FRCP 
23(b)(3) by demonstrating a common antitrust impact and methodology to measure and 
quantify damages on class-wide basis.  In August 2011, the Third Circuit affirmed the 
district court’s ruling on appeal, applying a “rigorous analysis” required by Hydrogen 
Peroxide,15 but declining to address “any merits inquiry unnecessary to making a Rule 23  
determination.”16 

While Comcast’s petition for writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court was pending, the parties 
reached a settlement.  Shortly thereafter, however, the Supreme Court granted the petition 
and Comcast refused to finalize the settlement.  Behrend’s motion to enforce the settlement 
was denied on September 25, 2012.17     

The question presented to the Supreme Court, as reformulated by the Court, was whether a 
district court may certify a class action under FRCP 23 without resolving whether the 
plaintiff class has introduced admissible evidence under Federal Rule of Evidence (“FRE”) 
702 and Daubert to show that it may be awarded damages on a class-wide basis.18 

In its brief on the merits, Comcast argued that the damages model presented by McClave 
was not based on the clustering theory of antitrust impact, which was the only theory 
approved by the district court.  Accordingly, Behrend could not possibly satisfy FRCP 
23(b)(3)’s requirement of predominance by showing damages on a class-wide basis using 
common proof.  Additionally, even if Behrend’s damages model were relevant to proving 
class-wide damages, they would not be admissible at trial under FRE 702 or Daubert.  By 
refusing to reach “merits” issues on Comcast’s appeal, the Third Circuit failed to follow the 
Supreme Court’s 2011 decision in Wal-Mart, which requires courts to determine merits 
issues bearing on class certification.19   

Behrend argued in her brief on the merits that certiorari was “improvidently granted” in light 
of the parties’ settlement, that Comcast previously failed to challenge the admissibility of 
any of the opposing experts’ reports and testimony, and failed to challenge their 
qualifications under FRE 702 or Daubert, thereby waiving such claims on appeal.  In any 
case, McClave’s damages model was admissible under any test, including Daubert, and 
capable of quantifying damages on a class-wide basis.20           

During oral argument, counsel for the parties often focused on the particular damages 
model at issue, and whether on a factual level it was sufficient and admissible to measure 
class-wide antitrust impact.  Both sides appeared to agree that at least some Daubert 
                                                 

15 See generally, Brief for Respondents at 4 – 14,.Comcast Corp. v. Behrend, No. 11-864 (2012). 
16 Behrend v. Comcast Corp. 655 F.3d 182, 190 (3d Cir. 2011). 
17 See generally, Brief for Respondents, 18 – 19,  Comcast Corp. v. Behrend, No. 11-864 (2012). 
18 See generally, Issue, Comcast Corp. v. Behrend, Issue, No. 11-864 (2012), http://www.scotusblog.com/case-
files/cases/comcast-v-behrend/?wpmp_switcher=desktop. 
19 See generally, Brief for Petitioners, Comcast Corp. v. Behrend, No. 11-864 (2012). 
20 See generally, Brief for Respondents, Comcast Corp. v. Behrend, No. 11-864 (2012). 
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inquiry, if not waived, would be appropriate at the class certification stage.21  The Justices 
expressed apparent frustration and doubts as to whether there existed any real legal 
dispute, as opposed to merely factual disputes, between the parties.  At one point well into 
the argumentation, Justice Kagan commented, “I am still in search of a legal question that 
anybody disagrees about here…this is a case where it seems to me that except for the 
question of how good the expert report is, none of the parties have any adversarial 
difference as to the appropriate legal standard.”22  

Based on the Justices’ comments and questions, it appears that a majority are inclined to 
require some analysis of the probativeness of expert testimony on damages, if not a 
traditional Daubert analysis, at the class certification stage.  Given the Supreme Court’s 
concurrent consideration of the Amgen case, the potential also exists for the Court to 
assess Comcast’s argument that the Third Circuit failed to abide by the dictates of Wal-
Mart.  Thus, the Court may either clarify or expand upon Wal-Mart concerning how 
extensively the merits must be considered at class certification.       

Gabelli v. SEC (Argued: January 8, 2013)      
 
In Gabelli, the SEC filed suit against Marc J. Gabelli and Bruce N. Alpert (collectively, 
“Gabelli”) for civil penalties under the Investment Advisers Act, arising out of market timing 
that occurred between 1999 and 2002.  Also referred to as “time zone arbitrage,” market 
timing involves buying and selling mutual fund shares to exploit the difference in closing 
times between foreign and US markets.  The defendants were a portfolio manager and chief 
operating officer of mutual fund Gabelli Funds, LLC (“Gabelli Funds”), which managed the 
Gabelli Global Growth Fund (the “Fund”).  The SEC’s complaint alleged that between 1999 
and August 7, 2002, Gabelli Funds and the defendants violated Section 206 of the 
Investment Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. 80b6(1) and (2), by secretly allowing a certain customer 
to market time the Fund in exchange for a large investment in a Gabelli Funds-managed 
fund.  Allegedly, the SEC did not discover these violations before “late 2003, at the 
earliest.”23   

Federal Statute 28 U.S.C. 2462 sets forth the applicable statute of limitations for SEC 
enforcement proceedings, and it provides that “[e]xcept as otherwise provided by Act of 
Congress, any action, suit or proceeding for the enforcement of any civil fine, penalty, or 
forfeiture, pecuniary or otherwise, shall not be entertained unless commenced within five 
years form the date when the claim first accrued, if within the same period, the offender or 
the property is found within the United States in order that the proper service may be made 
thereon.”24   

                                                 

21 Oral Argument Transcript, Comcast Corp. v. Behrend, 38:18 – 39:14. 
21 Id. at 38:9 -39:6. 
22 Id. at 38:9 -39:6. 
23 See generally, Petitioners’ Brief on the Merits at 2 – 5, Gabelli v. Sec. and Exch. Comm’n, No. 11-1274 (2012). 
24 28 U.S.C. 2462. 
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The SEC had commenced an investigation in the Fall of 2003, and in the Spring of 2007, 
entered into tolling agreements to extend the statute of limitations on its claims against 
Gabelli until late November and early December 2007.  After the tolling agreements expired, 
the SEC commenced suit against Gabelli on April 24, 2008 (the same day it settled an 
administrative action against Gabelli Funds).25  

On March 17, 2010, the district court dismissed the SEC action against Gabelli as untimely, 
rejecting the SEC’s arguments that its causes of action did not accrue until it discovered 
Gabelli’s alleged violations, or that the statute of limitations was suspended by Gabelli’s 
fraudulent concealment.  The district court instead held that the SEC’s claims accrued no 
later than the date of Gabelli’s last alleged violation, or August 7, 2002.  The court further 
held, among other things, that without any contrary statutory provision, the discovery rule 
did not apply to Section 2462.26  The SEC appealed, and the Second Circuit reversed, 
holding that under the discovery rule, the SEC’s claims did not accrue until it first discovered 
or could have discovered Gabelli’s alleged fraud with reasonable diligence.  Noting that 
claims sounding in fraud inherently involve self-concealing conduct, the Second Circuit 
ruled that unless Congress directs otherwise, the presumption is that the discovery rule 
applies to fraud claims.27                                                                                                                                  

The question presented to the Supreme Court was, where Congress has not enacted a 
separate controlling provision, does the SEC’s claim first accrue for purposes of applying 
the five-year limitations period under Section 2462 when the SEC can first bring an action 
for a penalty?28          

In its brief on the merits, Gabelli contended that the plain language of Section 2462 provides 
that a claim for “any” fine, penalty, or forfeiture (without distinguishing anti-fraud penalties) 
must be brought within five years when it “accrued,” with accrual being when a claim was 
complete and the plaintiff had a legal right to sue.  Except as otherwise provided by 
Congress, and except where the offender is not within the United States such that proper 
service may be made, the limitations period is five years.  To hold otherwise would mean 
that nobody would ever enjoy repose from a potential enforcement action.29  

Additionally, Congress’ provisions in other statutes allowing for accrual on some date other 
than the date the claim arose (and the words “except as otherwise provided by Act of 
Congress” in Section 2462) would be rendered surplusage if the discovery rule were 
implicitly read into every anti-fraud statute.30  Gabelli pointed out several statutes such as 
that, unlike Section 2462, set forth accrual dates based on discovery.  These included 

                                                 

25 See generally, Petitioners’ Brief on the Merits at 2-4, Gabelli v. Sec. and Exch. Comm’n, No. 11-1274 (2012). 
26 Id. at 5 – 6. 
27 Id. at 6 – 7. 
28 See generally, Issue, Gabelli v. Sec. and Exch. Comm’n, No. 11-1274 (2012), http://www.scotusblog.com/case-
files/cases/gabelli-v-securities-and-exchange-commission/?wpmp_switcher=desktop. 
29 See generally, Petitioners’ Brief on the Merits at 9, 11-18, Gabelli, v. Sec. and Exch. Comm’n, No. 11-1274 (2012). 
30 Id. at 9. 
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federal securities laws such as Section 323 of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 and Section 
18(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”).31 

Gabelli further argued that the purpose of the discovery rule—to defer the statute of 
limitations for fraud victims until they knew or should have known of their damages or 
injuries—is inapposite for penalty enforcement claims under the Investment Advisers Act, 
which require no proof of damages or injuries.32  The discovery rule is not an open-ended 
license for the government to pursue penalty claims, regardless of when violations occurred 
and whether the defendant concealed the claims.33  Otherwise, the government alone could 
choose when it wanted to investigate and uncover violations, without fear of the statute of 
limitations expiring.34        

The SEC argued in its brief on the merits that whether it is labeled delayed accrual or 
equitable tolling, the discovery rule delays the running of the applicable statute of limitations 
in cases involving fraud.35  As set forth in Holmberg v. Armbrecht,36 federal limitations 
statutes are presumptively governed by the discovery rule unless Congress specifies 
otherwise.  In contrast to Gabelli’s contention that the discovery rule must be explicitly 
invoked, the SEC proposed that “[t]he crucial question with respect to the discovery rule… 
is whether Congress has clearly displaced the usual rule that limitations periods in fraud 
cases are triggered by actual or constructive discovery.”  According to the SEC, Congress’ 
occasional express inclusion of the discovery rule in statutes of limitation does not render 
the rule inapplicable when it is neither explicitly incorporated nor explicitly displaced.37   

The SEC emphasized that neither it nor the Second Circuit purported to apply the discovery 
rule to non-fraud claims, and focused heavily on the fact its Investment Advisers Act claims 
implicitly invoked the discovery rule by sounding in fraud.38  Citing Merck & Co. v. 
Reynolds39, the SEC noted that the discovery rule “reflects the court’s long-standing 
recogni[tion] that something different was needed in the case of fraud, where a defendant’s 
deceptive conduct may prevent a plaintiff from even knowing that he or she has been 
defrauded.”40 (Internal quotations omitted.)  And, although Merck concededly involved a 
statute with an express discovery rule (unlike Section 2462), the SEC contended that 
Merck’s discussion of the common law principles behind the fraud discovery rule is 
eminently applicable in the instant case.41     

                                                 

31 Id. at 18 – 23. 
32 Id. at 10, 29 – 32. 
33 Id. at 30 – 31. 
34 Id. at 39. 
35 See generally, Brief for the Respondent at 9, Gabelli v. Sec. and Exch. Comm’n, No. 11-1274 (2012) (citing SEC v. 
Koenig, 557 F.3d 736, 7390740 (7th Cir. 2009) and SEC v. Tambone, 550 F.3d 106, 148 – 149 (1st Cir. 2008). 
36 327 U.S. 392, 397 (1946). 
37 Petitioners’ Brief on the Merits at 10, Gabelli v. Sec. and Exch. Comm’n, No. 11-1274 (2012). 
38 Id. at 21. 
39 130 S. Ct. 1784 (2010).  
40 See generally, Brief for Respondent at 14, Gabelli v. SEC, No. 11-1274 (2012). 
41 Id. at 15. 
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The SEC disagreed with Gabelli’s claim that the purpose of the discovery rule is to protect 
unknowing private victims of fraud.  Rather, the discovery rule’s focus is more upon the 
defendant’s misconduct in causing a delay in discovery.42  The need for repose is balanced 
against the equally compelling equitable principle that a person should not profit from his 
own wrong, and is not entitled to repose when his deception has delayed the government in 
bringing a claim.43  Recognizing two separate grounds for delaying accrual of fraud claims, 
the SEC maintained that equity will intervene not only at the original wrong (a defendant’s 
self-concealing fraud), but also at a subsequent wrong (further concealment of the original 
fraud).44        

Finally, the SEC pointed out that although it has resources to investigate fraud, it is not 
always on notice of the need to utilize those resources, due to a defendant’s concealment of 
fraudulent conduct.  Gabelli’s approach “unrealistically envisions that the [SEC] (and other 
federal agencies) could constantly monitor every regulated entity and transaction for any 
hint of hidden fraud…”45   

Compelling rationales are presented in the merits briefing on both sides of this case, with 
avoidance of perpetual penalties in accordance with Congressional intent being Gabelli’s 
focus, and prevention of wrongdoers benefitting from their own misconduct being the focus 
of the SEC.  In particular, a reversal of the Second Circuit’s ruling would significantly impact 
the SEC and other government agencies’ abilities to effectively and timely enforce anti-fraud 
regulations.  The Supreme Court’s decision in Gabelli is sure to shape the trajectory of 
regulatory enforcement as we move into and beyond the five-year anniversary of the 
financial crisis, and either open or slam shut the door to numerous enforcement actions.  

II. Rule 10b-5 and Securities Litigation Uniform Standards Act (“SLUSA”) Cases 

Over the past six months, courts have weighed in on numerous issues concerning the 
pleading standards for securities class actions and other related claims.  These decisions 
have included rulings on pleading requirements for scienter in Rule 10b-5 actions and the 
test applied to allegations of  fraudulent activity in connection with securities covered under 
the Securities Litigation Uniform Standards Act of 1998 (“SLUSA”).  Below is a discussion of 
a few of the more significant Rule 10b-5 and SLUSA cases from 2012. 

R. Allen Stanford SLUSA Cases 

On March 19, 2012, the Fifth Circuit held that SLUSA precludes state law class actions if 
the allegations of fraudulent activity are more than “tangentially related” to transactions in 
“covered securities.”46 The Fifth Circuit adopted the Ninth Circuit’s test regarding the scope 

                                                 

42 Id. at 43 – 44. 
43 Id. at 11. 
44 Id. at 32 – 33. 
45 Id. at 11, 50. 
46 Roland v. Green, No. 11-10932 (5th Cir. Mar. 19, 2012). 
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of the “in connection with” language under SLUSA, rather than the more stringent tests 
applied by the Second, Sixth and Eleventh Circuits.47  

The Fifth Circuit’s decision revived four putative class actions against Proskauer Rose LLP, 
Chadbourne & Parke LLP, insurance broker Willis Ltd., and others over the Stanford Ponzi 
scheme.48  The federal judge presiding over multidistrict litigation concerning the scheme 
had found the claims in these class actions were precluded by SLUSA's restrictions on 
class action securities fraud suits. The investors who filed the suits had bought fraudulent 
certificates of deposit from Stanford International Bank Ltd. after being told they were 
backed by SLUSA-covered securities.   

The Fifth Circuit held that claims regarding where the money was invested were merely 
tangentially related to the “heart” of the defendants’ fraud. The gravamen of the fraudulent 
scheme was representing to the plaintiffs that the CDs were a “safe and secure” investment 
that was preferable to other investments. The Fifth Circuit found that the mere fact that the 
CDs were marketed with some vague references to the portfolio containing instruments that 
might be SLUSA-covered securities seems tangential to the schemes.  

On July 20, 2012, Chadbourne & Parke filed a petition for a writ of certiorari arguing that 
allowing the Fifth Circuit's "tangentially related" standard would encourage litigants to rush 
to that circuit to file their cases.49  According to the petition, "The Fifth Circuit's strict 
standards concerning when state-law securities-related fraud claims are precluded — and 
when they can be removed — could effectively become the nationwide rule unless this court 
grants review to resolve the circuit conflict.” 

On October 1, 2012, the U.S. Supreme Court invited the Solicitor General to file expressing 
the views of the United States. 

 

SEC v. Apuzzo 

On August 8, 2012, the Second Circuit effectively lowered the bar for alleging and proving 
aiding and abetting liability in an SEC civil enforcement action.  The SEC is not required to 
plead or prove that an aider and abettor proximately caused the primary Rule 10b-5 
                                                 

47 Under the recent decision of Dixon v. ATI Ladish LLC, SLUSA applies to most securities suits brought as class 
actions, unless they present derivative claims—that is, unless the investor seeks to take over the corporation's own 
claim against corporate insiders who may have injured the corporation as well as its investors. 667 F.3d 891 (7th Cir. 
2012).  Further, the Sixth Circuit has held that SLUSA bars state law breach of contract and negligence claims related 
to the way trust accounts were managed.  Daniels v. Morgan Asset Management, Inc.  2012 WL 3799150 (6th Cir. 
Aug. 31, 2012). 
48 Steven Melendez, 5th Cir. Revives Stanford Suits Against Poskauer, Others, LAW360, Mar. 19, 2012, 
http://www.law360.com/articles/320794/5th-circ-revives-stanford-suits-against-proskauer-others?related_articles=1. 
49Eric Hornbeck, Stanford Ruling Confuses SLUSA Standard, Supreme Court Told, LAW360,July 20, 2012,  
http://www.law360.com/articles/362514/stanford-ruling-confuses-slusa-standard-supreme-court-
told?related_articles=1. 
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securities law violation.  Instead, the court, quoting Judge Learned Hand’s test for 
establishing aiding and abetting in the criminal context, stated that “to satisfy the ‘substantial 
assistance’ component of aiding and abetting, the SEC must show that the defendant ‘in 
some sort associate[d] himself with the venture, that he participate[d] in it as in something 
that he wishe[d] to bring about, [and] that he [sought] by his action to make it succeed.”50  In 
its decision, the Second Circuit relied upon the fact that the SEC is allowed to pursue aiders 
and abettors who were not themselves involved in making false statements that proximately 
caused the harm.  “Almost by definition, the activities of an aider and abettor are rarely the 
direct cause of the injury brought about by the fraud, however much they may contribute to 
the success of the scheme.”  Additionally, the court found that “proximate cause” is the 
language of private tort actions and is necessary for a plaintiff seeking compensation, but 
“there is no requirement that the government prove injury, because the purpose of such 
actions is deterrence, not compensation.”          

SEC v. Obus 

The SEC v. Obus matter involved key analysis by the Second Circuit regarding insider 
trading law and “tipper” liability.  At its core, the case involved the acquisition of SunSource, 
Inc. by Allied Capital Corporation, announced in June 2001.  The SEC brought an insider 
training action against Nelson Obus, Peter Black and Thomas Strickland, alleging that the 
defendants had committed a breach of duty in using information Strickland had learned at 
GE Capital, which was approached by Allied about financing its acquisition of SunSource.51   

The Second Circuit reversed the district court’s order granting summary judgment in favor of 
the defendants, finding that there was sufficient evidence Strickland knew he owed GE 
Capital a duty to not use information he learned about SunSource for his own profit.  
Furthermore, the Second Circuit found that the SEC was not required to make an additional 
showing of deception as to Strickland beyond the tip for a Rule 10b-5 violation.52 

Dobina v. Weatherford Int'l Ltd.  

In November, Judge Lewis A. Kaplan of the Southern District of New York dismissed much 
of an investor class action brought against Weatherford International Ltd., an international 
provider of equipment and services used in oil and gas drilling (“Weatherford”), and certain 
of its officers (collectively the “Defendants”), as well as its auditor Ernst & Young LLP 
(“Ernst & Young”), over tax miscalculations that overstated the company earnings by about 
$500 million.  The court ruled, among other things, that the amended complaint of the lead 

                                                 

50 SEC v. Apuzzo, No. 11-cv-696 (2d Cir. Aug. 8, 2012) (quoting United States v. Peoni, 100 F.2d 401, 402 (2d Cir. 
1938). 
51 See Case Study: SEC V. Obus, LAW360, Sept. 17, 2012, http://www.law360.com/articles/378428/case-study-sec-v-
obus. 
52 Id. 
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Plaintiff, American Federation of Musicians and Employer's Pension Fund (“Plaintiff”), failed 
to adequately plead Defendants had a motive to commit fraud.53 

The Plaintiff alleged that Weatherford and Ernst & Young violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) 
of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b–5 thereunder by knowingly issuing materially false 
statements regarding the Company's tax accounting, including reporting artificially low and 
rapidly declining effective tax rates.54  These practices lead to Weatherford’s 2011 
announcement that it had understated its tax expenses from 2007 through 2010 by over 
$500 million.55 

In his opinion, Judge Kaplan rejected a vast majority of the amended complaints’ scienter 
claims.  The court found the contention in the amended complaint that motive rested on the 
executives’ large compensation packages to be unconvincing as such motives were 
commonplace and did not evidence knowledge of wrongdoing.56 

Further, Plaintiff accused the Defendants of artificially inflating Weatherford’s stock price to 
fund the acquisition of various properties.  While the Second Circuit has recognized that 
individual stock sales by corporate insiders will provide the requisite motive, the court ruled 
that, at a minimum, this requirement "demands more than alleging simply that the Company 
acquired companies during the class period with the use of stock."57  Moreover, the court 
ruled that the amended complaint failed to allege that the individual defendants engaged in 
such transaction for personal gain as opposed to their professional duties for Weatherford.  
Accordingly, these allegations were insufficient to establish motive that could contribute to a 
demonstration of scienter.58 

The amended complaint also alleged that knowledge of the falsity of Weatherford’s 
statements about “core operations” should be imputed on its officers.59  The “core 
operations” theory states that “[k]nowledge of the falsity of a company's financial statements 
can be imputed to key officers who should have known of facts relating to the core 
operations of their company that would have led them to the realization that the company's 
financial statements were false when issued.”60  The court determined that although such 
an assumption could be made in this matter, the far more compelling inference was that the 

                                                 

53 See Stewart Bishop, Judge Pares Investor Claims Over $500M Weatherford Tax Flub, LAW360, Nov. 8, 2012, 
http://www.law360.com/classaction/articles/392917/judge-pares-investor-claims-over-500m-weatherford-tax-flub. 
54 Amended Complaint at 105-109, Dobina v. Weatherford, 2012 WL 5458148 (2012) (No. 11 Civ. 1646 (DLC)). 
55 Id. at 3. 
56 See Stewart Bishop, Judge Pares Investor Claims Over $500M Weatherford Tax Flub, LAW360, Nov. 8, 2012, 
http://www.law360.com/classaction/articles/392917/judge-pares-investor-claims-over-500m-weatherford-tax-flub. 
57 Id. 
58 Dobina , 2012 WL 5458148, *5. 
59 Amended Complaint at 105-109, Dobina v. Weatherford, 2012 WL 5458148 (2012) (No. 11 Civ. 1646 (DLC)); 
Dobina, 2012 WL 5458148, *11. 
60 Dobina, 2012 WL 5458148, *11. 
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management's statements about the Company's tax expense was “the result of merely 
careless mistakes at the management level based on false information fed it from below.”61  

Finally, the court rejected the allegations of auditor scienter on behalf of Ernst & Young 
finding that the Plaintiffs had not properly alleged the auditor repeatedly failed to scrutinize 
serious signs of fraud. 62  Instead, the alleged red flags which Ernst & Young overlooked 
were either "not red flags at all" or "not sufficiently colorful."63 

Judge Kaplan, however, refused to dismiss claims against Weatherford and two officers 
based on statements about the quality of internal controls, finding that the Plaintiff 
sufficiently pled the Defendant’s knowledge of wrongdoing.64 

In re L&L Energy, Inc. Sec. Litigation   

In a December 2012 decision, the District Court for the Western District of Washington, 
addressed a securities class action claim including allegations a company intentionally 
misled the investing public by overstating its consolidated revenues and falsely claiming 
ownership of certain mining interests which caused the stock price to fall over 17%.65  The 
Plaintiff initiated the suit against L&L Energy, Inc. (“L&L Energy”), a U.S. company engaged 
in coal mining and related operations in China, on behalf of all persons who purchased its 
common stock within a two year period.66  Specifically, the complaint alleged that L&L 
Energy's revenue and income for the 2009 fiscal year, as disclosed in its SEC filings, was 
grossly overstated based on the fact that L&L Energy's subsidiaries in China reported lower 
income to the PRC State Administration for Industry and Commerce (“SAIC”) over a 
comparable period.67  The complaint concluded that the SAIC numbers reflected L&L 
Energy’s actual financial status because there were strict penalties, including revocation of 
an entities business licenses for filing false statements with the SCIA.68   

The complaint also asserted that that L&L Energy and certain officers (collectively the 
“Defendants”) were fully aware that the SEC filings were false at the time they were made.69  
Plaintiff’s allegation of scienter was based on the individual Defendants’ positions within 

                                                 

61 Id. 
62 Id. at 12. 
63 Id. at 14. 
64 See Stewart Bishop, Judge Pares Investor Claims Over $500M Weatherford Tax Flub, LAW360, Nov. 8, 2012, 
http://www.law360.com/classaction/articles/392917/judge-pares-investor-claims-over-500m-weatherford-tax-flub. 
65 Order Granting Defendants' Motion To Dismiss, at 1., In re L&L Energy, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. C11–1423RSL, 2012 
WL 6012787 (W.D.Wash. Dec. 3, 2012). 
66 Amended Complaint at 2-3, In re L&L Energy Inc. Sec. Litigation, 2012 WL 6012787 (2012) (No. C11-1423-RSL). 
67 Id. at 10-16. 
68 Id. 
69 Id. at 16. 
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L&L Energy and the fact that two of the individual Defendants’ profited from the disposition 
of stock during the class period.70 

The Defendants moved to dismiss arguing that the Plaintiff’s allegations of falsity, scienter 
and loss causation did not satisfy the pleading standards of the Private Securities Litigation 
Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”).  The court set forth that in order to satisfy the scienter 
pleading requirement, a plaintiff must allege with specific facts that the defendants engaged 
in knowing or intentional conduct, “simply alleging that statements were knowingly false or 
that defendants were deliberately reckless is not enough at the pleading stage.”71  The 
allegations must also raise an inference that is “more than merely reasonable” or 
permissible, instead it must be cogent and compelling and strong in light of other 
explanations.72  Finally, the plaintiff must also allege a causal connection between the 
defendants’ material misrepresentations and the plaintiff’s loss.73 

Based on its review of the complaint, the court concluded that the Plaintiff did not raise a 
strong inference that one or more of the individual Defendants had acted knowingly, 
intentionally or with such recklessness that it reflected some degree of intentional or 
conscious misconduct.  Plaintiff did not allege or point to evidence suggesting that any of 
the defendants were involved in compiling the information presented in the SAIC.74  Further, 
the inference that the individual Defendants were engaged in the 2009 SEC filing was 
neither cogent or compelling in light of other explanations.  Although Plaintiff identified 
seven false or misleading statements made by the Defendants, there was no link between 
the false statements and a drop in the share price.75 

The court granted the Defendants motion citing the plaintiffs’ failure to adequately plead that 
the Defendants’ SEC filings contained inaccurate data and the complaint’s failure to 
properly allege scienter.   

SEC v. Harbinger Capital Partners LLC; Philip A. Falcone; and Peter A. Jenson  

On June 27, the SEC brought charges against Philip A. Falcone and his firm Harbinger 
Capital Partners LLC, alleging misappropriation of fund assets, unlawful preferential 
treatment of certain clients, manipulation of bond prices, and a violation of Regulation M of 
the Exchange Act.76  The SEC also charged Harbinger’s former Chief Operating Officer, 
Peter A. Jenson, with aiding and abetting the misappropriation of fund assets. 

                                                 

70 Id. at 28-34. 
71 Id. 
72 Id. 
73 Id. at *3. 
74 Id. at *5. 
75 Id. at *3. 
76 See SEC Press Release No. 2012-122, Philip A. Falcone and Harbinger Charged with Securities Fraud (June 27, 
2012), http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2012/2012-122.htm.  
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As a result of its investigation, the SEC alleged that in 2009 Falcone misappropriated 
$113.2 million from the Harbinger Capital Partners Special Situations Fund, L.P. to pay 
personal taxes he owed to the state and federal government.  While the transaction was 
structured as a loan, the SEC claimed that investors were not notified of the loan until five 
months after the fact, and were not told all of the details about Falcone’s need for the loan, 
the fund’s ability to provide the loan, or the terms and conditions of the loan.  The SEC also 
found that “Falcone and Harbinger secretly exempted certain large investors that Falcone 
deemed to be strategically important from soon-to-be imposed liquidity restrictions – 
provided those investors voted to approve restrictions that would temporarily stabilize the 
decline in Harbinger’s assets under management.”77  According to the SEC, Falcone and 
Harbinger never disclosed these secret agreements to investors or the independent 
directors, while those favored investors were able redeem approximately $169 million from 
the fund. 

Falcone and Harbinger were also alleged to have manipulated the market for distressed 
high-yield bonds issued by MAAX Holdings Inc., using a manipulative technique called a 
“short squeeze.”  That is, Falcone and Harbinger were alleged to have bought up almost 
every MAAX bond available, demanded that short sellers settle their outstanding MAAX 
short sales, and then sold the bonds to short sellers at inflated prices when the short sellers 
could not find any bonds available to cover.  Falcone then valued “the funds’ holdings on his 
books at a small fraction of the prices he charged the covering short sellers.”78  Finally, “[i]n 
a separate administrative and cease-and-desist proceeding, the SEC found that between 
April and June 2009, Harbinger violated Rule 105 of Regulation M of the [Exchange Act],” 
which “prohibits short selling securities during a restricted period and then purchasing the 
same securities in a public offering.”79 

While Harbinger has already settled with the SEC on the charges of violating Regulation M, 
on November 30, 2012, counsel for Falcone filed a motion to dismiss the SEC charges 
against him.  Falcone claims that the SEC has no evidence that he violated any law 
because not only did he not manipulate the market, but governing documents for the fund 
allowed him to approve preferential redemptions for certain investors, and the loan from his 
fund was approved by his outside counsel.  U.S. District Judge Paul A. Crotty has not yet 
ruled on the motion. 

III. Investment Adviser/Investment Company Cases and Regulatory Developments 

The SEC continued its trend from the first half of 2012 by zealously pursuing actions against 
investment advisers and investment companies.  In the last year, the “SEC filed 147 
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enforcement actions…against investment advisers and investment companies, one more 
than the previous year’s record number.”80 

Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto 

In the BakerHostetler 2012 midyear review, the Absolute Activist case81 was spotlighted for 
its ruling on the extraterritorial reach of the federal securities laws and in particular the 
Investment Advisers Act following the Supreme Court’s Morrison decision.82  It remains to 
be seen how far Absolute Activist will be employed by the SEC and plaintiffs as a defense 
to Morrison, or how courts shall interpret it going forward.  A recent invocation of Absolute 
Activist by the SEC was rejected.  In mid-October 2012, the SEC relied upon the Second 
Circuit’s holding in Absolute Activist in seeking to revive fraud claims against Fabrice 
Tourre, a bond trader at Goldman Sachs who was charged by the SEC with securities fraud 
in 2010. 

Judge Barbara S. Jones of the Southern District of New York had dismissed part of the 
SEC’s complaint against Tourre in 2011, holding that charges related to the sale of a 
collateralized debt obligation (“CDO”) to a German bank did not fall within the purview of the 
federal securities laws because the transaction took place outside of the United States.  
After the case was transferred to district court Judge Katherine B. Forrest, with no reason 
given for the transfer, the SEC argued in a recent hearing that the Second Circuit’s holding 
in Absolute Activist should allow for their charges against Tourre related to the German 
bank to proceed in federal court.  Specifically, the SEC pointed to the Second Circuit’s 
holding that the transfer of title to securities in the United States could be enough for a 
federal court to have jurisdiction.  The SEC argued that since the closing on the CDO took 
place in New York, title was transferred within the United States and thus the transaction 
should be sufficiently domestic to fall under the federal court’s jurisdiction. 

On November 19, 2012, Judge Forrest rejected the SEC’s argument that the closing was 
sufficiently domestic to give her jurisdiction, explaining that there was no fraudulent U.S.-
based transfer of title in connection with the transaction, and “calling the link too 
‘attenuated.’”83 

 

 

                                                 

80 See SEC Press Release No. 2012-227, SEC’s Enforcement Program Continues to Show Strong Results in 
Safeguarding Investors and Markets (Nov. 14, 2012), http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2012/2012-227.htm. 
81 See Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd., 677 F.3d 60 (2d Cir. 2012) (The Second Circuit held that 
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SEC v. Bartek 

August 7, 2012 saw an important ruling with respect to statute of limitations defenses for 
alleged violations of securities laws and regulations brought by the SEC.  SEC v. Bartek84 
examined whether the discovery rule, which would toll the statute of limitations until an 
alleged fraud is discovered, applied to cases where civil fines, penalties, and forfeitures are 
sought by the SEC. 

Federal Statute 28 U.S.C. 2462 sates,“[e]xcept as provided otherwise by Congress, an 
action, suit or proceeding for the enforcement for any civil fine or penalty, or forfeiture, 
pecuniary or otherwise, shall not be entertained unless commenced within five years from 
the date when the claim first accrued.” 

Bartek came to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals on appeal from the United States District 
Court for the Northern District of Texas.  The parties reached settlement in the district court, 
but both parties cross moved for summary judgment.  The district court held that Bartek’s 
statute of limitations defense was valid as the statute of limitations began to run at the time 
that the fraud was revealed to the SEC. 

The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals examined the “discovery rule” under the rubric of 28 
U.S.C. 2462.  The facts of the case centered around Bartek and his co-defendant, 
Richardson’s, fraudulent practice of backdating stock options to newly hired employees of 
their firm, Microtune.  They did this to ensure the lowest possible exercise price for these 
employee stock options from 2001-2003.85  The SEC contended that the five year statute of 
limitations should be tolled until the fraud was discovered in August 2003.  Bartek, on the 
other hand, maintained that the discovery rule did not apply and that the statute of 
limitations under 28 U.S.C. 2462 ran from the filing of Mictrotune’s IPO documents as that 
was when the fraud should have been discovered by the SEC. 

The Fifth Circuit bolstered its ruling that the statute of limitations was not tolled until the 
alleged fraud was discovered by distinguishing the SEC’s reliance on Gabelli.86  According 
to the Bartek court, the Gabelli court held that, “a claim first accrues” under Section 2462 
when the government discovers the violation, rather than when the violation occurs.”87  The 
Bartek court said that the facts in Gabelli do not apply because the Gabelli fraud was self- 
concealing, while the Bartek fraud was not concealed.  Rather, Microtune made the 
circumstances surrounding the fraud clear upon the filing of their IPO with the SEC in 2000. 
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SEC v. Lion Capital Management, LLC and Hausmann-Alain Banet  

In October 2012, the SEC charged Hausmann-Alain Banet and his San Francisco hedge 
fund, Lion Capital Management, LLC, with fraud.88  The SEC’s complaint charged Banet 
and Lion Capital with stealing approximately $550,000 from a retired school teacher who 
thought she was investing her retirement savings in the hedge fund. 

The SEC alleged that in November 2008, Banet accepted an investment from a retired 
school teacher and promised that her money would be invested in the stock market using a 
long/short equity investment strategy.  Rather than investing any of the money, the SEC 
claimed that Banet used the funds to pay for, among other things, the mortgage on his 
condominium in San Francisco, Lion Capital’s office rent, legal expenses, and staff salaries.  
To further perpetrate the fraud, “Banet also provided phony account statements showing 
non-existent investment gains and listing an independent administrator that performed no 
actual work for the fund.”89 

The SEC’s complaint charged Banet and Lion Capital with violating Section 17(a) of the 
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 
thereunder, and also Sections 206(1), 206(2), and 206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rule 
206(4)-8 thereunder.  In addition, the U.S. Attorney’s Office has announced criminal 
charges against Banet in a parallel action.90 

 In the Matter of J. Kenneth Alderman, CPA  

In a year-end enforcement proceeding late last year relating to the valuation of illiquid 
assets held by registered funds, the SEC issued an order commencing administrative 
proceedings against eight former members of the board of directors of Morgan Keegan & 
Co. mutual funds for violating their asset valuation obligations under the federal securities 
laws.91  According to the SEC the funds, “which were invested in some securities backed by 
subprime mortgages, fraudulently overstated the value of their securities as the housing 
market was on the brink of financial crisis in 2007.”92  While the SEC previously charged the 
funds’ managers with fraud and received $200 million in a settlement, the directors of the 
funds are now being separately sued. 

The Investment Company Act of 1940 (“Investment Company Act”) requires that when a 
mutual fund holds securities for which market prices are not readily available, the fund’s 
board of directors must, in good faith, determine a fair market value for the securities.  In its 
order instituting proceedings, the SEC alleged that the directors delegated their fair 
                                                 

88 See SEC Litigation Release No. 22505, SEC Charges San Francisco Investment Adviser and Its Owner for Fraud, 
(Oct. 4, 2012), http://www.sec.gov/litigation/litreleases/2012/lr22505.htm. 
89 Id. 
90 Id. 
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92 See SEC Press Release No. 2012-259, SEC Charges Eight Mutual Fund Directors for Failure to Properly Oversee 
Asset Valuation (Dec. 10, 2012), http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2012/2012-259.htm. 
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valuation obligations to a valuation committee at the funds’ investment adviser without 
providing detailed policies and procedures on valuation methodology, factors to consider in 
valuing the assets, or how such factors should be weighed.  Moreover, the SEC found that 
the directors made no attempt at determining how the committee was valuing the assets, 
and were given no substantial record of how such values were calculated.  Consequently, 
“the net asset values of the funds were materially misstated in 2007,” thereby harming 
investors who relied on those misstated values when deciding to buy, hold, or sell shares in 
the funds.93 

Specifically, the eight directors were charged with causing the funds to violate Rules 22c-1, 
30a-3(a), and 38a-1 under the Investment Company Act.  This matter is ongoing, and it 
highlights the fact that “fair valuation” of illiquid assets by registered funds is likely to remain 
a top enforcement priority in 2013 for the SEC, and in particular the Enforcement Division’s 
Asset Management Unit. 

Presence Exams for Newly Registered Investment Advisers 

The SEC’s Office of Compliance and Inspections and Examinations (“OCIE”) recently 
introduced its new National Exam Program to investment advisers that have registered with 
the SEC as a result of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 
(“Dodd-Frank”).94  In its letter, dated October 9, 2012, OCIE detailed plans for “presence 
exams” of investment advisers set to unfold over the next two years, with a goal of 
protecting investors and market integrity through examinations that focus on promoting 
compliance, preventing fraud, monitoring risk, and informing policy. 

The National Exam Program is divided into three phases: (1) engagement; (2) examination; 
and (3) reporting.  During the engagement phase, the OCIE will reach out to registered 
investment advisers to inform them of their obligations under the Investment Advisers Act 
as well as publish compliance materials as guidance.  The examination phase will have 
OCIE staff analyzing one or more of the following higher risk areas: (1) marketing materials; 
(2) portfolio decision-making practices; (3) conflicts of interest; (4) custody and the safety of 
client assets; and (5) valuation methodology, policies, and procedures.  Finally, the 
reporting phase will serve to inform the SEC and the public of the OCIE’s observations, in 
hopes that best practices will emerge and encourage other investment advisers to review 
and improve their compliance programs.  More information on SEC presence exams can be 
found in a prior BakerHostetler Executive Alert in the link below: 
http://www.bakerlaw.com/files/Uploads/Documents/HedgeFunds/Hedge_Funds__2012_11_
29.pdf. 
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IV. Settlements 
 
As we noted in our Mid-Year Review, the first half of 2012 saw an increase in the number of 
settlements with the SEC, but saw a trend which indicated a decline in securities class 
action settlements.  Indeed, according to a December 11, 2012 report issued by NERA 
Economic Consulting (“NERA”),95 only 92 settlements were expected to be approved in 
2012, which is 31 fewer than 2011 and the lowest number since the passage of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act.  However,  the NERA report does not reflect several high 
profile settlements that were announced in 2012, but not yet approved.   

Additionally NERA reports that there were 714 settlements with the SEC last year, which is 
the highest number reached since 2007.96 The SEC also increased the number of 
settlements with individuals to the highest level recorded since 2005, with 537 – a 14% 
increase from last year. 

We highlight some of the noteworthy settlements from the second half of 2012: 

Civil Settlements 

Bank of New York Mellon v. Walnut Place LLC 

On July 23, 2012, investor group Walnut Place LLC dropped its opposition to Bank of 
America’s $8.5 billion settlement with holders of Countrywide Financial Corp. securities 
backed by subprime mortgages, which had been previously announced in June 2011.97 
Walnut Place, now known as the Baupost Group, objected to this settlement and sued Bank 
of America. In June 2012, a unanimous appeals panel denied Walnut's appeal. 

The settlement filed in the Southern District of New York covers more than 500 trusts 
holding Countrywide-backed securities with an original principal balance of $424 billion. The 
$8.5 billion agreement resolves claims by those investors and also includes provisions that 
would limit robosigning and other loan servicing problems. Bank of America also agreed to 
clarify its loss mitigation standards for investors. 

In re Bank of America Corp. Securities Class, Derivative and ERISA Litigation 

On September 28, 2012, Bank of America agreed to pay the largest settlement in a 
derivative action stemming from the financial crisis- a $2.43 billion to settle multidistrict 
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litigation over stock losses related to the bank’s acquisition of Merrill Lynch & Co.98  The 
settlement is the sixth largest settlement related to a securities class action in history.  The 
multidistrict litigation consolidated more than three dozen separate complaints in June 2009 
over the sale of Merrill.  The complaints alleged that Bank of America misled its 
shareholders and failed to disclose material facts about its financial health, the financial 
health of Merrill, and bonuses to be paid to Merrill employees prior to the vote approving the 
acquisition.   

In addition to the monetary settlement, Bank of America agreed to make changes to its 
corporate governance practices, including making annual disclosures if the bank fails to 
comply with stock ownership guidelines; allowing shareholders to vote on executive 
compensation in annual “say-on-pay” meetings; and instituting new policies for a board 
committee that will consider future acquisitions. 

Relatedly, on June 20, 2012, several current and former Bank of America directors finalized 
a separate $20 million settlement with shareholders in a derivative suit.99  However, 
Southern District of New York Judge Kevin Castel, who is overseeing the multidistrict 
litigation, recently ruled that the deal was not fair, reasonable and adequate.100 After calling 
for additional settlement negotiations, the parties submitted a revised $62.5 settlement that 
was approved on January 11, 2013. 

In re Citigroup Inc. Securities Class Litigation 

On August 29, 2012, Citigroup agreed to pay $590 million to settle a consolidated class 
action in the Southern District of New York, alleging that the bank misled investors about 
exposure to consolidated debt obligations.101  The suit was brought on behalf of investors 
who purchased Citigroup common stock during the period Feb. 26, 2007, through April 18, 
2008- Citigroup shares fell 55 percent during this period.102  According to the complaint, 
until November 2007, Citigroup led investors to believe that it had minimal, if any, exposure 
to CDOs, rather than the more than $50 billion in exposure it faced.  This settlement is one 
of the largest settlements stemming from the subprime meltdown. 
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In re Bear Stearns Cos. Inc. Securities Class, Derivative, and ERISA Litigation 

On November 9, 2012, Judge Robert W. Sweet approved a $295 million settlement in 
multidistrict litigation over Bear Stearns Cos. Inc.'s alleged misrepresentations related to its 
exposure to the subprime housing market.103  Judge Sweet found that the settlement was 
fair due to numerous factors, including the case's complexity and the risk of a "battle of the 
experts" trial, the overwhelming support for the settlement among class members, the 
amount of discovery completed, the difficulty of pinpointing damages, and the challenge of 
maintaining a class action for a protracted period. The settlement is one of the top 40 
largest settlements since the passage of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act.104 

SEC Enforcement Settlements 

In the Matter of KCAP Financial Inc.,  

On November 28, 2012, the SEC announced that three executives from KCAP Financial 
Inc., an offshoot of Kohlberg & Co. LLC, agreed to pay $125,000 to settle the SEC’s first 
enforcement action against a public company that failed to properly fair value its assets 
according to the applicable financial accounting standard — FAS 157.105  FAS 157 requires 
companies to fairly value assets based on an exit price, or the price at which the assets 
could be sold “in an orderly transaction between market participants” at the time of the 
valuation.  The SEC alleged that KCAP overstated the fund’s investments in collateralized 
loan obligation funds by $21.9 million and its debt securities by $30.6 million in 2008 
because it failed to take into account relevant market information suggesting the 
investments had decreased in value. 

SEC v. JPMorgan Securities LLC ,; In the Matter of Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC 

On November 16, 2012, the SEC announced that JPMorgan Securities LLC and Credit 
Suisse Securities USA agreed to pay $417 million to settle charges that they misled 
investors in the packaging and sale of risky residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS), 
including at the former Bear Stearns Cos which JPMorgan bought in 2008.106  JPMorgan 
agreed to pay $297 million, while Credit Suisse will pay $120 million. 

The SEC accused JPMorgan of materially overstating in a prospectus the quality of home 
loans that backed a $1.8 billion RMBS offering it underwrote in December 2006, 
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representing that just four loans were delinquent by 30 to 59 days, when in fact there were 
more than 620, or about 7 percent of the total. Investors lost at least $37 million as a result. 

The SEC also faulted Bear for failing to disclose that it arranged discounted cash 
settlements with originators that left investors stuck owning many problem loans, rather than 
forcing the originators to buy the loans back, which netted Bear at least $137.8 million.  
Credit Suisse failed to disclose similar settlements, which netted $55.7 million. 

The Swiss bank also misled investors by falsely claiming when it would buy back mortgage 
loans in two offerings in which borrowers had defaulted on their initial payments, and that 
"all first payment default risk" had been removed. 

 
V. Commodities and Futures Litigation and Enforcement 

The Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) had an unprecedented year.  It 
responded to MF Global’s collapse and the increased enforcement and oversight authority 
granted by Dodd-Frank by filing a record number of enforcement actions in 2012.107 In data 
released by the commission in October 2012, the CFTC levied $385 million more in 
sanctions than the previous year.108  The CFTC was at the center of arguably the year’s 
most notable financial fraud cases: the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) 
manipulation scandal, which lead to the largest civil fines in the Commission’s history.  In 
addition, an action was filed against futures broker Peregrine Financial Group, whose 
collapse and resulting $200 million loss in customer money drew comparisons to MF 
Global,109 with some calling it “déjà vu.”110  Finally, in complying with the new swap market 
regulatory framework implemented by Dodd-Frank, the CFTC provided guidance that was 
required on the definition of a “swap.”111  The CFTC’s major developments are highlighted 
below.    

LIBOR Manipulation Settlements 

LIBOR is an interest rate supplied by the British Bankers Association (“BBA”) that affects 
how consumers and companies around the world borrow money.112  It is among the most 
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important benchmark interest rates in the world’s economy, and is a key rate in the United 
States.113  The BBA is a “leading trade association for the United Kingdom banking and 
financial services sector.”114  The BBA represents over 200 member banks from 60 
countries.115  BBA member banks that report their interest rates daily to the BBA include, 
among others, Barclays, UBS, Bank of America, JP Morgan Chase, HSBC, Royal Bank of 
Scotland, Credit Suisse, and Deutsche Bank.116  

Each weekday, these member banks submit a figure to the BBA based on the rate at which 
they estimate they could borrow money from other banks.117   The BBA does not take into 
account the highest and lowest 25% of submissions.118  The remaining rates are averaged: 
this is LIBOR.  LIBOR is produced each business day for ten currencies with fifteen 
maturities quoted for each, ranging from overnight to 12 months.119 

LIBOR is “fundamentally critical” to financial markets and has an “enormously widespread” 
impact on global markets and consumers.120  LIBOR is often used to calculate interest rates 
for loans and mortgages.121  It is also used to price financial instruments like swaps and 
futures.122  It is estimated about $350 trillion in derivatives and other financial products are 
tied to LIBOR.123  During and after the 2008 financial crisis, LIBOR took on new significance 
as a measure of bank health, with higher submitted rates suggesting a worse financial 
condition.124 
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The CFTC regulates futures and swaps transactions that are priced based on benchmark 
rates such as LIBOR, Euribor,125 and other indices.126  In 2012 two banks, Barclays and 
UBS, settled charges relating to manipulation, attempted manipulation, and false reporting 
of these benchmark interest rates.   

The major Barclays settlement in June 2012  covered purported transgressions that 
occurred between 2005 and 2009.127  First, it was alleged that Barclays traders convinced 
employees who submitted LIBOR rates to alter the rates based on the traders’ derivative 
trading positions, in order to increase profits.128  Additionally, it was claimed that Barclays 
made  artificially low LIBOR submissions to combat public and media perception that they 
had liquidity issues and poor financial health during the global financial crisis.129   

Section 9(a)(2) of the Commodity Exchange Act makes it unlawful for any person 
“knowingly to deliver or cause to be delivered for transmission through the mails or 
interstate commerce by telegraph, telephone, wireless, or other means of communication 
false or misleading or knowingly inaccurate reports concerning crop or market information 
or conditions that affect or tend to affect the price of any commodity in interstate 
commerce.”130  

The CFTC alleged that Barclay’s submitted rates that were false, misleading, and knowingly 
inaccurate, because they were based on impermissible factors such as (1) management’s 
directive to submit lower rates to manage the market and media’s perception of Barclay’s 
financial health and (2) the derivatives positions of swap traders, which were not based on 
the cost of borrowing in the marketplace.131 

The Commodity Exchange Act also prohibits acts of “attempted manipulation,” which was 
also alleged in the complaint.132  The CFTC alleged that the extensive communication 
among traders and LIBOR submitters evidences an intent to affect to affect the price 
LIBOR, and that the Barclays traders’ requests for certain rates to be submitted and the 
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submitters actually making the LIBOR and Euribor submissions reflecting these requests 
satisfies the overt act element, and thus Barclays engaged in repeated acts of attempted 
manipulation.133 

The CFTC Order required Barclays to (i) pay a $200 million civil monetary penalty, (ii) cease 
and desist from further penalties as charged, and (iii) fulfill additional obligations to protect 
the reliability of benchmark interest rates,134 including making submissions based on 
specified factors, with Barclays’ transactions given the greatest weight, implement firewalls 
to prevent improper communications between traders and submitters, and make regular 
reports to the CFTC regarding compliance with the Order.135   

At the time, the $200 million civil monetary penalty with Barclays was the largest in the 
CFTC’s history.  Five months later, however, in December 2012, the CFTC settled similar 
charges with UBS related to LIBOR manipulation, with a civil penalty of $700 million.136  The 
Order found more than 2,000 instances of unlawful conduct by UBS employees from 2005 
to 2010.137  The Order set forth particularly the “extensive unlawful activity” of one UBS 
senior Yen trader, who over many years “orchestrated a massive, multi-year course of 
conduct to manipulate Yen LIBOR almost daily.”138  In three years the trader made 
approximately 2,000 requests by email or in written chats alone to manipulate Yen 
LIBOR.139  The additional measures to be implemented by the Order were similar to that of 
the Barclays settlement.140    

CFTC Chairman Gary Gensler has vowed to “use vigorously our enforcement and 
regulatory authorities” to “ensure that these rates are free of false information and 
manipulation.”141  More settlements arising out of the LIBOR sandal are expected during 
2013. 
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Peregrine Financial Group 

On July 9, 2012,  Russell R. Wasendorf Sr., registered futures broker Peregrine Financial 
Group’s (“Peregrine”) owner and chief executive officer, attempted suicide.142  He left a note 
detailing how he defrauded clients out of over $200 million over nearly two decades.143  In 
the note, Wasendorf wrote “I have committed fraud.  For this I feel constant and intense 
guilt…I was forced into a difficult decision: Should I go out of business or cheat?  I guess 
my ego was too big to admit failure.  So I cheated…”144    

The NFA was responsible for “front-line” oversight of Peregrine, with the CFTC supervising 
the NFA’s execution of their duties.145  Wasendorf allegedly fooled regulators from the NFA 
by providing them and auditors with bank statements that were doctored using Adobe 
Photoshop, scanners, and Microsoft Excel.146   

Wasendorf was the sole person with access to Peregrine’s bank accounts.147  No one at 
Peregrine ever saw the firm’s actual US Bank statements, which were ordered to be 
delivered to Wasendorf unopened.148  He made counterfeit statements within hours of 
receiving the real statements and gave these to Peregrine’s accounting department.149  
Wasendorf also opened a P.O Box when it became the industry standard for auditors to 
mail balance confirmation forms to banks that held customer funds.150  Wasendorf directed 
the auditors’ confirmation forms to arrive at the P.O. Box and then intercepted them.151    

                                                 

142 Sindhu Sundar, Peregrine CEO Arrested As Damning Suicide Note Emerges, LAW360, July 13, 2012, 
http://www.law360.com/articles/360018/peregrine-ceo-arrested-as-damning-suicide-note-emerges. 
143 Complaint at Paragraphs 16-18, CFTC v. Peregrine Financial Group and Russell R. Wasendorf, Sr. (N.D. Ill. July 
10, 2012); Complaint, US v. Russell Wasendorf (N.D. Iowa 2012), 
http://articles.law360.s3.amazonaws.com/0360000/360018/Wasendorf%20Complaint.pdf; Sindhu Sundar, Peregrine 
CEO Arrested As Damning Suicide Note Emerges, LAW360, July 13, 2012, 
http://www.law360.com/articles/360018/peregrine-ceo-arrested-as-damning-suicide-note-emerges;  Peter Lattman, 
Futures Executive Is Arrested After Admitting Fraud, N.Y. TIMES, July 13, 2012, 
http://dealbook.nytimes.com/2012/07/13/futures-executive-confesses-to-stealing-millions-from-customers/.    
144 Complaint at Paragraphs 5-6, US v. Russell Wasendorf (N.D. Iowa, July 11, 2012) 
http://articles.law360.s3.amazonaws.com/0360000/360018/Wasendorf%20Complaint.pdf. 
145 Gary Gensler, Testimony Before the U.S. House Committee on Agriculture (July 25, 2012), 
http://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/opagensler-119; Complaint at Paragraph 9, US v. Russell 
Wasendorf (N.D. Iowa, July 11, 2012), 
http://articles.law360.s3.amazonaws.com/0360000/360018/Wasendorf%20Complaint.pdf. 
146 Complaint at Paragraph 6, US v. Russell Wasendorf (N.D. Iowa, July 11, 2012), 
http://articles.law360.s3.amazonaws.com/0360000/360018/Wasendorf%20Complaint.pdf. 
147 Id. at Paragraph 5. (“no one else in the company ever saw an actual US Bank statement”). 
148 Id. 
149 Id.   
150 Id. at Paragraph 6. 
151 Id. 



 28 2012 Year-End Securities Litigation and Enforcement Highlights 
 

The fraud was due to unravel when the NFA, in response to the MF Global, required 
customer-fund reports to be filed electronically.152  Although Wasendorf initially resisted, he 
granted permission the week before the suicide attempt: the bank was to directly send the 
statements electronically to the NFA, removing Wasendorf from the process.153 

CFTC brought an action against Peregrine and Wasendorf, for fraud, customer-funds 
violations, and making false statements.154   

On July 10, 2012, the day after Wasendorf’s attempted suicide, Peregrine filed for Chapter 
7 bankruptcy and the CFTC brought an action against Peregrine and Wasendorf, for fraud, 
customer-funds violations, and making false statements.155  On July 13, 2012 a class action 
suit was filed against Wasendorf and other Peregrine executives, accusing them of 
commingling firm and customer funds..156  In August 2012, Wasendorf was indicted.157  In 
October 2012, Wasendorf’s guilty pleas to counts of mail fraud, embezzlement, and lying to 
regulators were accepted by the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Iowa.158  
During bankruptcy, it has been determined that there is a shortfall of about $190 million 
facing customers and creditors.159  

MF Global Class Action Update 

In November 2012, PwC was added to a civil lawsuit against former MF Global executives, 
stating that PwC failed to adequately audit MF Global’s internal controls.160  Named plaintiff 
Joseph DeAngelis first brought the proposed class action in November 2011.161  The 
amended suit reiterated allegations against Jon Corzine and other officials at the firm for 
breach of fiduciary duty to MF Global customers, violation of the Commodity Exchange Act, 
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negligence, tortious interference of contract, and conversion.162  Also named is the Chicago 
Mercantile Exchange (“CME”), the exchange and self-regulatory organization (“SRO”) 
tasked with monitoring MF Global.163    

The suit, which seeks class-action status, detailed many of the same findings as MF 
Global’s bankruptcy Trustee, James Giddens, did in a June report.164  The Trustee has 
assigned his claims against former MF Global officers to plaintiffs’ law firms to reduce the 
legal costs of recovering money.165 

MF Global and Peregrine Consequences 

Peregrine’s failure further compromised investor confidence in a futures industry still reeling 
from the MF Global’s collapse.  A number of industry-driven solutions have been proposed 
including electronic verification of customer balances, stronger internal controls, the creation 
of an insurance fund, the use of third-party custody accounts, and providing customers with 
more visibility into the handling of customer funds.166      

The futures industry, spearheaded by the Futures Industry Association and Chicago 
Mercantile Exchange, among others, are analyzing insurance-like protection similar to that 
used in the securities sector.167  The CME set up an insurance scheme after the MF 
Global’s failure, allowing Peregrine’s customer to be eligible for $25,000 and farming and 
ranching cooperatives to be eligible for up to $100,000.168  The CME also set up a $100 
million fund for family farmers and ranchers effected by MF Global’s collapse.169   

In October 2012, the CFTC approved for public comment a notice of proposed rulemaking 
for new regulations and amendments to existing regulations, in order “to enhance 
protections for customers and to strengthen the safeguards surrounding the holding of 
money, securities, and other property deposited by customers with futures commission 
merchants (“FCM”s).”170  The proposals include requiring FCMs to provide the CFTC and 
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designated SROs with read-only direct electronic access to bank and custodial accounts 
holding customer funds, requiring FCMs to adopted policies and procedures on supervision 
and risk management of customer funds, requiring FCMs to provide potential customers 
with additional disclosures addressing firm specific risks, and enhancing the standards for 
the SROs’ examination of member FCMs.171  In November 2012, the notice of proposed 
rulemaking was published in the Federal Register, giving the public sixty days to submit 
comments.172  

Peregrine further raised concerns about the effectiveness of the industry’s self-regulatory 
system, along with potential conflicts which come along with it: for instance, Wasendorf sat 
on an advisory committee at the NFA.173  CFTC director Gensler has himself stated “it is 
clear that the system failed to protect the customers of Peregrine…we all must do better.”174   

MF Global’s collapse was cited as an underlying reason in a proposed bill merging the 
CFTC and SEC, as the two agencies “failed to share critical information…before the firm’s 
October 2011 collapse and could have saved some investor funds if the agencies had 
worked together.”175  The CFTC-SEC merger bill was introduced by Democratic 
Representatives Barney Frank and Mike Capuano.176  Combining the two agencies was 
originally proposed during negotiations over Dodd-Frank.177  At the time, Representative 
Frank rejected the idea as he felt it would have prevented the Dodd-Frank legislation from 
moving forward.178  The idea of merging the SEC and CFTC was reintroduced by the House 
Financial Services Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations in its report on the MF 
Global default.179  The report criticized the two regulators for lack of coordination, and 
recommended merging the two agencies.180  In bringing the proposed bill, Representative 
Frank felt that since Dodd-Frank has been adopted, “we can focus on the structural issue 
[of merging the CFTC and SEC].”181   

The CFTC’S “Swap” Definitions 

                                                 

171 Id. 
172 Enhancing Protections Afforded Customers and Customer Funds Held By Futures Commission Merchants and 
Derivatives Clearing Organizations; Proposed Rule, 77 Fed. Reg. 67866, (Nov. 14, 2012), 
http://www.cftc.gov/ucm/groups/public/@lrfederalregister/documents/file/2012-26435a.pdf. 
173 Nick Elliot, Peregrine Financial: 4 Common Methods of Camouflaging Fraud, WALL STREET JOURNAL, July 30, 
2012, http://blogs.wsj.com/corruption-currents/2012/07/30/peregrine-financial-4-common-methods-of-camouflaging-
fraud/.   
174 Gary Gensler, Testimony Before the U.S. House Committee on Agriculture (July 25, 2012),  
http://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/opagensler-119. 
175 Richard Vanderford, Bill Merging SEC, CFTC Will Bolster Regulation: House Reps., LAW360, Nov. 29, 2012, 
http://www.law360.com/articles/397670/bill-merging-sec-cftc-will-bolster-regulation-house-reps-. 
176 Daniel P Collins, CFTC-SEC Merger Back On Table, FUTURES MAGAZINE, Nov. 30, 2012, 
http://www.futuresmag.com/2012/11/30/cftc-sec-merger-back-on-table. 
177 Id. 
178 Id. 
179 Id. 
180 Id. 
181 Id. 



 31 2012 Year-End Securities Litigation and Enforcement Highlights 
 

Title VII of Dodd-Frank (“Title VII”) was enacted to reduce risk, increase transparency, and 
promote market integrity within the swaps and security-based swaps markets.182  Title VII 
created a comprehensive new regulatory framework for agreements, contracts, and 
transactions which may be classified as either swaps or security-based swaps.183  
Regulatory authority is divided between the CFTC and the SEC: the CFTC has regulatory 
authority over “swaps,” while the SEC has regulatory authority over “security-based 
swaps.”184  “Mixed swaps,” which are those contracts and transactions which have elements 
of both “swaps” and “security-based swaps” are jointly regulated by the CFTC and SEC.185 

Section 712(d)(1) of Title VII, provides that the CFTC and SEC, in consultation with the 
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve, shall “further define,” among other terms, 
“swap,” and “security-based swap.”  In mid-July the CFTC and SEC approved joint final 
rules and interpretations regarding the definitions and regulations of swaps, security-based 
swaps, and mixed swaps.186  The swap definitions were published in the Federal Register, 
on August 13, 2012 and took effect October 12, 2012.187 

While the Commodity Exchange Act provides the broad statutory definition for the term 
“swap,”188  the recently released definitions provide additional guidance as to whether 
specific types of agreements are within or not within definition of a “swap” or “security-based 
swap definitions.”189  Transactions which are included within the “swap” definition include 
interest rate swaps, currency swaps, commodity swaps (including energy, metals, and 
agricultural swaps), and broad-based index swaps (such as index credit-default swaps).190   

Insurance contracts are not considered swaps or security-based swaps if they satisfy a 
seven-step “Product Test” and “Provider Test.”191  Insurance outlined as exempt include life 
insurance and property and casualty insurance.192  Forward contracts are also not included 

                                                 

182 A security-based swap is an agreement, contract, or transaction that is a “swap” and also has certain 
characteristics specified in the statute.  77 Fed. Reg. 48208, 48211(Aug. 13, 2012), 
http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-08-13/pdf/2012-18003.pdf.  For example, a security-based swap may be a 
swap based on a security, such as a stock or a bond, or a credit default swap. SEC, The Regulatory Regime For 
Security-Based Swaps, http://www.sec.gov/swaps-chart/swaps-chart.shtml.     
183 77 Fed. Reg. at 48209, 48211. 
184 77 Fed. Reg. at 48210. 
185 Id.; Gary Gensler, Statement of Support: Further Definition of the Term “Swap,” (July 10, 2012), 
http://cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/genslerstatement071012b. 
186 Gary Gensler, Statement of Support: Further Definition of the Term “Swap,” (July 10, 2012), 
http://cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/genslerstatement071012b; Press Release, SEC, Sec Approves Rules 
and Interpretations on Key Terms For Regulating Derivatives, http://www.sec.gov/news/press/2012/2012-130.htm; 
Silla Brush, CFTC Approves Swap Definition Triggering Dodd-Frank Rules, BLOOMBERG, Nov. 5, 2012, 
http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052970203846804578100663911321342.html. 
187 77 Fed. Reg. 48208 (Aug. 13, 2012), http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-08-13/pdf/2012-18003.pdf.   
188 Commodity Exchange Act, 7 U.S.C. 1a(47)(A). 
189 77 Fed. Reg. 48208 (Aug. 13, 2012), http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-08-13/pdf/2012-18003.pdf.   
190Id; Gary Gensler, Statement of Support: Further Definition of the Term “Swap,” (July 10, 2012), 
http://cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/genslerstatement071012b 
191 77 Fed. Reg. 48212 (Aug. 13, 2012), http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-08-13/pdf/2012-18003.pdf.   
192 Id. at 48311   



 32 2012 Year-End Securities Litigation and Enforcement Highlights 
 

within the definition of “swap” or “security-based swap,” so long as “the transaction is 
intended to be physically settled.”193   

The definitions also provide clarity on the “dividing line” between “swaps” and “security-
based swaps.”194  The definitions state that “Title VII instruments based on interest or other 
monetary rates would be swaps, whereas Title VII instruments based on the yield or value 
of a single security, loan, or narrow-based security index would be security based 
swaps.”195    

The CFTC and SEC’s Title VII definitions are extremely lengthy and complicated.  While the 
recently released definitions provide guidance, many interpretive issues are still unresolved, 
and will need to be answered by the CFTC in 2013.  

VI. Recent SEC Policy Developments 
 
Two SEC Officials Step Down 

On the regulatory front, the end of 2012 was marked by two high profile SEC officials 
stepping down from their posts− SEC Commissioner, Mary Shapiro, and SEC Director of 
Enforcement, Robert Khuzami.  

Mary Shapiro left her role as Chairman on December 14th and was replaced on an interim 
basis by Elise Walter.  President Obama nominated Mary Jo White as chairman of the SEC 
on January 24, 2013.  Ms. Shapiro served as the SEC’s first female Chairman and her 
tenure lasted almost four years.  Her term was marked by the events of the financial crisis 
and the subsequent calls for increased regulatory scrutiny in the wake of the crisis.  Under 
Shapiro’s leadership, the SEC charged 177 entities and individuals for their roles in the 
financial crisis.196     

Robert Khuzami announced that he will step down as early as January 2013 and his 
replacement has yet to be named.  Mr. Khuzami’s career at the SEC began in 2009, while 
the agency was still reeling from the aftermath of the Bernard L. Madoff Ponzi scheme.  
During Mr. Khuzami’s tenure, the SEC filed more than 130 cases related to the US financial 
crisis.  Mr. Khuzami’s office oversaw several significant settlements related to the financial 
crisis, including $550M against Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., $285M against Citigroup, Inc. 
and $154M against J.P. Morgan Chase.197 
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SEC Annual Dodd- Frank Whistleblower Report  

November 2012 saw the release of the second annual Whistleblower’s Report (“the report”). 
Section 924 of the Dodd- Frank Act mandates that the Office of the Whistleblower (OWB) 
report to Congress annually on its activities, complaints received from potential 
whistleblowers and actions taken in response to complaints.198 

According to the report, the OWB received 3,001 whistleblower complaints from all 50 
states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico and 49 foreign countries in fiscal year 2012.199  
The most common types of complaints were related to Corporate Disclosures and 
Financials (18.2%), Offering Fraud (15.5%), and Manipulation (15.2%).200 

Fiscal year 2012 marked the first time in the program’s history that whistleblowers received 
rewards for alerting the SEC to instances of potential fraud.  This first such payment was 
awarded on August 21, 2012, when the Commission paid out close to $50,000 to an 
anonymous whistleblower who tipped the SEC off to “an ongoing multi-million dollar 
fraud.”201  The percentage paid to whistleblowers is a percentage of the sanctions 
recovered from the defendants to date.  Thus, the whistleblower received $50,000 as the 
defendants have paid $150,000 to date.  $50,000 reflects a 30% award- the maximum 
percentage allowed by law.202  The report points out that the court awarded more than $1 
million in sanctions related to the fraud, so the whistleblower’s sum will likely increase as 
the defendants continue to meet their obligations.203 

Notably, the Commission denied another whistleblower’s claim related to the same fraud as 
“the information provided did not lead or significantly contribute to the Commission’s 
enforcement action.”204  As of the report’s publication, “OWB is continuing to review and 
process applications for awards received during the 2012 fiscal year.”205 

Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (“JOBS Act”)  

President Obama signed the JOBS Act into law on April 5, 2012.  The goal of the JOBS Act, 
as its name implies, is to stimulate economic growth by easing regulatory restrictions and 
registration requirements for business that meet certain criteria. 
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Title I of the JOBS Act, which was effective immediately, classifies a new type of company 
known as an Emerging Growth Company (EGC) and confers certain benefits to these 
companies to ease the registration requirements and restrictions of equity offerings.  The 
subtitle of Title I is “Reopening American Capital Markets to Emerging Growth Companies.”  
The JOBS Act seeks to achieve this goal by easing restriction and reporting requirements 
both before and after an initial public offering (IPO). The JOBS Act defines an EGC as a 
company with annual gross revenues below $1 billion, which has not sold common stock in 
an IPO prior to December 8, 2011. 

An advantage of being an EGC under Title I of the JOBS Act is that an EGC is required to 
submit two years of audited financial statements ahead of an IPO as opposed to the three 
years of data required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.206  Additionally, an EGC may 
submit its IPO registration statement for a confidential review by the SEC, provided this 
filing is at least 21 days prior to any roadshow.207  This marks a departure from the 
Securities Act, which did not allow for confidential SEC review before publicly filing 
registration statements. 

Title II of the JOBS Act provides a mechanism by which EGCs are exempt from the SEC’s 
prohibition against general solicitation and general advertising, provided that the offers of 
sales of securities are made to accredited investors and institutional buyers.208  The SEC 
issued proposed rules and invited comments for the elimination of the prohibition with 
regard to these securities on August 29, 2012.209  The comment period closed on October 
5, 2012 and the final rules regarding exemption from this prohibition have yet to be 
promulgated. 

Title III of the JOBS Act, the rules governing which must be adopted in January, addresses 
the issue of crowdfunding with respect to securities, a decidedly modern approach to 
fundraising.  Crowdfunding refers to the practice of individual investors pooling their money, 
usually via the internet, for the purposes of raising capital.  According to the JOBS Act, 
crowdfunding can be used by an issuer to raise capital provided the practice adheres to the 
following safeguards: 

 The aggregate amount sold to all investors does not exceed $1 million in a 12 
month period.  

 The securities sold must not exceed the greater of $2,000 or 5% of an 
individual’s annual income or net worth, provided that individual’s annual income 
or net worth is less than $100,000. 
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 The securities sold must not represent more than 10% of an individual’s annual 
income or net worth, provided that individual’s income annual income or net 
worth is more than $100,000.210 

 The issuer offers the securities for sale through a broker or funding portal 
registered with the SEC or other self-regulatory organization and subject to a 
number of other requirements determined to protect consumers against fraud by 
providing proper disclosures.211 

 

Title IV of the JOBS Act, which is designed to help small companies raise capital, allows an 
issuer to generally solicit the public for investment into securities.  It also increases the 
aggregate amount of capital that can be sold in this capacity from $5 million to $50 
million.212  Interestingly, Title IV allows an issuer to gauge interest in securities prior to filing 
an offering statement with the SEC, provided the communications conform to rules yet to be 
promulgated by the SEC.213  

Title V of the JOBS Act, which was effective immediately, expands the number of 
shareholders of record that a company may have before it needs to register with the SEC to 
500 shareholder of record or 2,000 general shareholders or assets that exceed $10 million.  
Notably, shareholders that own securities as part of a crowdfunding arrangement or through 
employee compensation packages will not be factored into this calculus.214 

Title VI of the JOBS Act, the rules governing which must be adopted by April 5, 2013, is 
applicable when a bank or bank holding company is the issuer of a security.  When that is 
the case, the entity must register with the SEC within 120 days after the fiscal year in which 
it reached $10 million in total assets and exceeds 2,000 shareholder of record.215 
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BakerHostetler is an AMLAW 100 law firm with eleven offices and over 825 attorneys which 
represents companies and individuals who face class and derivative securities litigation and 
enforcement investigations by the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Department of 
Justice, the Commodities Futures Trading Commission, the New York and other state 
attorneys general and regulators, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), the 
New York Stock Exchange, and other federal and state regulators.  

Our Securities Litigation and Regulatory Enforcement Team has broad prior experience at 
regulatory organizations.  Our partners include a former Branch Chief and Senior Counsel 
with the SEC's Division of Enforcement, Regional Counsel with FINRA, Chief of the 
Securities Fraud Unit for the U.S. Attorney's office and the Deputy Chief of Investigations at 
the New York District Attorney's Office. 

BakerHostetler lawyers are available to assist in addressing any questions you may have 
regarding these developments.  Please contact the BakerHostetler lawyer with whom you 
work or any of the following:  

New York:  Marc D. Powers, National Practice Team Leader, Mark A. Kornfeld, Jimmy 
Fokas, John W. Moscow, Andrew W. Reich.   

Washington, D.C.: Jonathan R. Barr, Gary D. Anderson  

Los Angeles: Michael Matthias  

Cleveland: Edmund W. Searby 

Columbus: Thomas Long, Mark Johnson  

Denver: Richard B. Levin  

Chicago: Leah J. Domitrovic, William K. Kane  


